# **RECEIVED**

SEP 1 2 2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

CURTIS L. WALKER,

Appellant,

-V-

Case No: 2016AP1058

Circuit Court Case No.: 1994CF944079

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Respondent.

#### APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM DECISION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF CHALLENGING THE SENTENCE IMPOSED ON JANUARY 22, 1996 (BY THE HONORABLE STANLEY MILLER, SENTENCING JUDGE), THE HONORABLE JONATHAN D. WATTS ENTERING DECISION AND ORDER DENYING POSTIONCONVICTION MOTION ON MAY 4, 2016

Submitted by: Curtis L. Walker #231105 New Lisbon Correctional Inst. P.O. Box 4000 New Lisbon, WI 53950

#

# ISSUES PRESENTED

A. Whether a parole eligibility date set in the year 2071 violate the 8th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment where a juvenile offender is concerned.

Answer: Yes.

B. Whether the sentencing court erred in its application of Wis. Stats. §973.014 (1993-94).

Answer: Yes.

C. Whether the circuit court should have granted a hearing on on appellant's motion for postconviction relief.

Answer: Yes.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is unnecessary in this case as the briefs submitted will fully develop the theories and legal authorities so that oral argument should not be necessary.

With respect to publication, I maintain that it would be beneficial in this case as this appeal seeks to clarify an existing rule of law pursuant to §809.23(1)(a)1, Wis. Stats.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At the age of 17 I was arrested in relation to the abovecaptioned matter, on September 8, 1994. A petition for waiver
into adult court was filed in Children's Court and ultimately
the Children's Court waived its jurisdiction on October 20,
1994. I was charged with first degree intentional homicide,
while armed, contrary to secs. 940.01(1) and 939.63(1)(A)2,
Stats., respectively. I was represented by attorney Ann Bowe.
At the preliminary hearing held on July 3, 1995 the court found
probable cause to bind over for trial. A plea of not guilty
was entered. the trial commenced on December 4, 1995, the
Honorable Stanley Miller presiding. On December 7, 1995 the

jury returned a verdict of guilty on the charge of 1st degree intentional homicide and also on the while armed enhancer. Sentencing was held on January 22, 1996, at which time Judge Miller imposed the mandatory sentence of life imprisonment, and set a parole eligibility date in the year 2071. A motion for postconviction was filed by attorney Peter Vetter on July 19, 1996 challenging the admission of statements made to police investigators into trial, which was denied by decision and order of the trial court, dated July 19, 1996. An appeal from that decision was taken in the Court of Appeals with the court denying relief on May 20, 1998. A petition for review was filed in the state Supreme Court with a decision denying the petition being released on July 24, 1998.

A pro se motion for postconviction relief pursuant to §974.06 was filed in Marched 1999 challenging representation of postconviction counsel, and on March 15, 1999 the circuit court denied the pro se motion. An appeal from that decision was pursued, concluding with a summary dismissal by the Court of Appeals on July 28, 2000 and the denial of a petition for review in the state Supreme Court on February 7, 2001.

A pro se motion for postconviction relief was filed on April 26, 2016 challenging the January 22, 1996 sentencing by the trial court. The motion was denied by circuit court judge the honorable Jonathan D. Watts on May 4, 2016. A timely notice of appeal was filed on May 17, 2016, bringing the matter to this court presently.

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

[A] At the time of the commission of the offense and my arrest I was 17 years old, causing me to be waived from Children's Court into adult court. (R:8:1). I was charged with 1st degree intentional homicide while armed stemming from a shot fired from a distance of 183 feet (R:39:65), striking the victim in the side, killing him.

After trial by jury I was found guilty of 1st degree intentional homicide while armed. At sentencing, the state requested that the court set parole eligibility in the year 2086, an eligibility date that the state I would not reach in my lifetime. (R:41:1). The state asserted that the aggravating factors that should justify such an eligibility date were: premeditation; the loss of life (R:41:5); the need to send a message to the community (R:41:9); and that there is no chance for my rehabilitation (R:41:10).

The defense offered mitigating factors: that the shooting was not intentional, but rather a wild shot which happened to strike someone; my expression of remorse (R:41:15); My neglectful and violent upbringing (R:41:17-18); A psychological evaluation by a psychologist (R:41:27); my development during the sixteen months between my arrest and trial (R:41:18, 19) and my ability to be rehabilitated; and a sentencing memorandum detailing my upbringing and non-violent juvenile delinquent past (R:41:26).

Judge Miller imposed the mandatory life sentence required by state statute §973.014, and set parole eligibility in the

year 2071, citing his reason for his decision as the gravity of the offense and the need to send a message to the community (R:41:31); and that I was currently dangerous (R:41:29).

[B] In deciding my motion for postconviction relief on May

4, 2016, challenging the constitutionality of my sentencing
in the light of recent federal court decisions issued after
my sentencing, Judge Watts denied the motion because I am not
serving a sentence without the possibility of parole (R:57:1).

The motion raised grounds for relief as: the sentencing court
fail to take into account how my youth was relevant to my
culpability; how the prospects for reform from youth to adulthood
lessened the case for the harshest sentence; and the general
and specific characteristics of youth making juveniles different
for the purpose of sentencing (R:56:1), and that the parole
eligibility given was a de facto without parole sentence
implicating the principles set forth in Miller v. Alabama, 567
U.S. 2455 (2012) (R:56:4,5).

# ARGUMENT

I. A parole eligibility set in the year 2071 violates 8th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment.

The life sentence with the parole eligibility set in the year 2071 that I was given for an offense committed when I was a juvenile violates the 8th Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. The U.S. Supreme Court decided in Miller

v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 2455, 2469 (2012), that sentencing courts must "take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." With a parole eligibility date which would be when I am 95 years old, beyond my life expectancy (R:41:3), my sentence stands as a sentencing scheme which would mandate my imprisonment for a lifetime. Although the sentencing court had the discretion to set my eligibility, and could by a liberal interpretation of §973.014, set it beyond my life expectancy, Miller v. Alabama counseled against this very thing unless there was a determination made by the sentencing court that I was, as a juvenile offender, incorrigible, permanently corrupt, and the "rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption." Miller at 2469.

Miller's "categorical ban is limited to life sentences made mandatory by legislatures, but its concerns that courts should consider in sentencing that 'children are different' extends to discretionary life sentences and de facto life sentences, as in this case." Miller v. Butler, 809 F.3d 908, 913 (2016). So though my parole eligibility setting was discretionary, the length of the eligibility made it a de facto life without the possibility of parole sentence, "and so the logic of Miller applies." McKinley v. Butler, at 911.

The sentencing court did not take into account how I was different than an adult for the purpose of sentencing and made no determination that I was beyond rehabilitation, or that I irrevocably corrupt (R:41:26-32). "A life without parole sentence

improperly denies the juvenile offender a chance to demonstrate growth and maturity. Incapacitation cannot override all other considerations, lest the 8th Amendment's rule against disproportionate sentences be nullified. Graham v. Florida, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 2029.

The sentencing judge, Judge Miller, did not make a finding, or imply that he believed that I was that rare juvenile offender who would forever be a danger to society. To the contrary, the sentencing court made clear that it thought that I was capable of reform because it said this as it pronounced sentence:

"Being incarcerated doesn't stop your ability to grow, doesn't stop you ability to find a way to make a meaningful contribution despite the difficulties that you had and the horror of your act." (R:41:30)

# The court went on to say:

"If you choose to be a different person, live a different life, you will have to turn your back on everything that you have known. That is a big challenge for you, and the court wishes you well in that regard." (R:41:31)

This indicates that the position of the court was that I had that potential for change with time and life experience, and that I was not beyond hope in that regard. these sentiments were not reflected in the sentence itself. The sentencing court, in the end, indicated that its reason for the denial of parole eligibility through the length of the parole eligibility rested primarily on the gravity of the offense (R:41:31-32). The sentencing court also wished to make a statement to the community about the value of human life. (R:41:31). The supreme court spoke toward this as well: "...[w]hether viewed as an attempt

to express the community's outrage or as an attempt to right the balance of the wrong to the victim, the case for retribution is not as strong with a minor as with an adult." Roper v.

Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005). "nor can deterrence do the work in this context because 'the same characteristics that render juveniles less culpable than adults' - their immaturity, recklessness, and impetuosity--make them less likely to consider potential punishment. Graham, 560 U.S., at (slip op., at 21) (quoting Roper, 543 U.S., at 571). Similarly, incapacitation could not support the life-without-parole sentence in Graham: deciding that a 'juvenile offender forever will be a danger to society' would require 'mak[ing] a judgment that [he] is incorrigible'--but 'incorrigibility is inconsistent with youth.'"

Miller at 2465.

The sentencing made a reference to the fact that I was a young male who had a difficult upbringing (R:41:27). The record does not show or indicate that the sentencing court considered the corresponding characteristics of my youth, nor were those factors reflected in the sentence itself, as <a href="Miller">Miller</a> says should be the case, "The characteristics of youth, and the way [that] they weaken rationales for punishment, can render a life-without-parole sentence disproportionate." <a href="Miller">Miller</a>, at 2466. The fact that the court referred to my youth in passing does not satisfy <a href="Miller">Miller</a>'s requirements because "even if a court considers a child's age before sentencing him or her to a lifetime in prison, that sentence still violates the 8th Amendment for a child whose crime reflects 'unfortunate yet transient immaturity."

Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718, 734 (2016).

The sentencing court made clear that it considered the seriousness of the crime, but it did not ask and answer correctly the question that Miller requires it to answer: "Whether petitioner's crimes reflected 'transient immaturity' or 'irreparable corruption.'" Adams v. Alabama, 136 S.Ct. 1796, 1799(2016). This may be because the sentencing court did not have the guidance of the decisions in Roper. Graham or Miller. Nor did the sentencing court have the benefit of the quidance offered by the 7th Circuit Court of Appeals, where they said that in assessing the juvenile offender "A competent judicial analysis would require expert psychological analysis of the murderer and his milieu." McKinley v. Butler, 809 F.3d at 913. Without that guidance the sentencing court erroneously exercised its discretion in disproportionately relying on the gravity of the offense committed while I was a juvenile and the need to make a statement to the public.

In this case the sentencing court did have at its disposal an expert psychological analysis of myself and my milieu in the form of a psychological analysis and diagnosis of me by Dr. Ingrid D. Hicks (R:27) and a sentencing memorandum submitted by Julie Paasch-Anderson, sentencing and dispositional specialist (R:56:[appd A]). The findings and conclusions of those two reports should have been taken into account and reflected in the sentence, by the sentencing court, as mitigating factors. As Dr. Hicks concluded: "Curtis Walker is a complicated and new breed of client in the treatment of post-truamatic stress

disorder. His volatile upbringing and other factors have led him to the crime in question." (R:27:15). The sentencing memorandum concluded: "I think Curtis is an example of what happens to children when they are exposed to extreme neglect. abuse. emotional deprivation, violence and absence of meaningful support systems. At the same time, I don't believe that this makes Curtis a lost cause... I have found that Curtis has the ability to develop emotional bonds and positive relationships with others." (R:56[appx A:13]). The U.S. Supreme Court considered these factors in Eddings v. Oklahoma: "...it is not disputed that he [Eddings] was a juvenile with serious emotional problems, and has been raised in a neglectful, sometimes even violent, family background"; "All of this does not suggest an absence of responsibility for the crime of murder, deliberately committed in this case. Rather it is to say that just as the chronological age of a minor is itself a relevant mitigating factor of great weight, so must the background and mental and emotional development of a youthful defendant be duly considered in sentencing." Eddings, 455 U.S. 104, 166(1982). With these analysis of my background the sentencing court should have duly considered this as mitigating and constitutionally significant, and reflected it in its sentencing of me. " In some cases, such evidence properly may be given little weight. But when the defendant was 16 years old at the time of the offense there can be no doubt that evidence of a turbulent family history, of beatings by a harsh father, and severe emotional disturbance

is particularly relevant. <u>Eddings</u>, 455 U.S., at 115. (R:27:) (R:56:1-8).

without evidence of an "irretrievably depraved character" and considering my youth, in full measure, I "must be given the opportunity to show their crime did not reflect irreparable corruption; and, if it did not, their hope of some years of life outside prison walls must be restored. Montgomery v.

Louisiana, at 622. If rehabilitation was one of the sentencing court's aims as is suggested by its comments at sentencing -

"There has been references to rehabilitation efforts. I think it's helpful from Ms.

Paasch-Anderson about her personal relationship with you that suggest two things. It suggest, one, the absence of firm and personal relationships in your life, which is detrimental and harmful to all of us, but it also suggests perhaps a new start for you, and you can develop meaningful relationships that may some day help you to live differently to live a better life." (R:41:30)

- the court should have considered the fact that when a juvenile is sentenced to a no-parole sentence, that it causes the department of Corrections to confine the offender to maximum security prisons where the most violence and prison-social pressure are the norm and reduces the chances for reform.

"The factors that a sentencing court considers are well-established in Wisconsin law. The primary factors that a sentencing court considers are (1) the gravity of the offense, (2) the character of the offender, and (3) the need to protect the public." State v. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 773(1992). If the sentencing court relied primarily on these three factors, on its face, its sentence still should not stand as

constitutional since the court did not make the determination that I was beyond redemption or rehabilitation. "Nor could the use of flawless sentencing procedures legitimate a punishment where the constitution immunizes the defendant from the sentence imposed." Montgomery, 577 U.S. at 615.

"A sentencing court must articulate the factors that it considered at sentencing and how they affected the sentence it imposed. State v. Harris(Denia), 119 Wis. 2d 612, 350 N.W. 2d 633(1984). It is through this articulation that we determine whether the circuit court exercised its discretion." State v. Loomis, 2016 Wisc. LEXIS 178, 55 (C.J. Roggenback concurring) (2016). Since the sentencing court did articulate its consideration of the youth factors as expressed in Miller, the sentence constitutes an erroneous exercise of discretion, and does not does not meet the constitutional standards of the 8th Amendment or the standards set by the Wisconsin Supreme court where it said: (1) "The sentence imposed in each case should recognize the minimum amount of custody or confinement that is consistent with the need to protect the public, the gravity of the offense and rehabilitative needs of the convicted defendant". State v. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d at 764; (2)... we mean that this court should review and reconsider an allegedly excessive sentence whenever it appears that no discretion was exercised in the imposition or discretion was exercised without the underpinnings of an explained judicial reasoning process." State v. McCleary, 49 Wis. 2d 263,280. In my case the sentencing court said that

"It's clear I think from the circumstances in this case at least in this case at least in this court that determines incarceration is going to be for a lengthy period of time." (R:41:30). This was the sentencing court's decision, based on the offense, that eligibility would be placed beyond reach without the sentence being affected by the factors of youth and its characteristics - at least no indication in the record of that being the case. "In the first place, there must be evidence that discretion was infact exercise. Discretion is not synonymous with decision making. Rather, the term comtemplates a process of reasoning. As we pointed out in State v. Hutnik (1968), 39 Wis. 2d 754, 764, 159 N.W. 2d 733, ...there should be evidence in the record that discretion was in fact exercised and the basis of that exercise of discretion should be set forth. " State v. McCleary, 49 Wis. 2d at 278. Because discretion was erroneously exercised and the record does not hold evidence of the exercise of the sentencing court's exercise of discretion, a sentence was produced that was contrary to the 8th Amendment.

# **ARGUMENT**

II. Whether the sentencing court erred in its application of Wis. Stats. §973.014 (1993-94). Answer: Yes.

The sentencing erred in its application of state statutes governing life sentences where it concerns a juvenile offender. The offense of 1st degree intentional homicide, Wis. Stats.

§940.01(1)(1993-94), carries a mandatory sentence of life imprisonment pursuant to §973.014(1993-94), which directs a sentencing court to make a determination regarding parole eligibility for a defendant being sentenced to life. The court is given two options under §973.014:

- (1) The person is eligible for parole under s.304.06(1);
- (2) The person is eligible for Parole on a date set by the court under this subsection, the court may set any later date than that provided in s.304.06(1), but may not set a date that occurs before the earliest possible parole eligibility date as calculated under s.304.06(1).

§304.06(1) provides that "the parole commission may parole an inmate serving a life term when he or she has served 20 years."

§973,014 does not specify a maximum parole eligibility date, only a minimum under s.304.06(1). The legislature left the matter open for sentencing judges to decide where to set the maximum, however, they specifically chose not to grant authority to the sentencing court to deny parole eligibility altogether. My parole eligibility date set in the year 2071 effectively denies parole.

The legislature did later consider the issue again when it amended the statute to expressly give authority to the sentencing courts to demy parole eligibility in 1994-95, well after I was charged with homicide, leaving my case to be governed by the 93-94 version of the statute, mandating parole eligibility. If the legislature did not extend the authority to deny parole

eligibility then the sentencing court should not have exceeded what the legislature permitted.

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