RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-13-2017

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP1058

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CURTIS L. WALKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF UNDER WIS. STAT. § 974.06, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HON. J. D. WATTS, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S CORRECTED BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Second, Walker contends that the circuit court erred when it set his parole eligibility date because it did not consider the characteristics of youthful offenders identified in *Miller*. (Walker's Br. 12-15.) Assuming that *Miller* applies

to Walker's case, the record as a whole demonstrates that the circuit court was cognizant of Walker's age and other character traits associated with youthful offenders when it sentenced him.

Third, Walker contends that the circuit court erred when it denied him a hearing on his postconviction motion. (Walker's Br. 15-18.) Because *Miller* does not apply to Walker's case, he is not entitled to the relief that he seeks. As such, the circuit court properly denied his motion without a hearing.

ARGUMENT

I. Because Walker's case involves a discretionary life sentence with a parole eligibility date, *Miller* does not apply and his sentence does not violate the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment.

A. Standard of Review.

This court must decide whether *Miller* applies to Walker's case. Whether sentencing Walker to a life sentence with an established parole eligibility date under Wis. Stat. § 973.014 violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment raises a legal question that this court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, ¶ 44, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451.

B. A life sentence imposed under Wis. Stat. § 973.014, which confers discretion on the circuit court to set a parole eligibility date, is consistent with the Eighth Amendment and the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Miller*.

In *Ninham*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the cruel and unusual punishment clause of the Eighth Amendment does not prohibit a sentencing court from exercising its discretion under Wis. Stat. § 973.014 and sentencing a juvenile to a life sentence without parole. *Ninham*, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 4. Walker argues that the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Miller* changed that analysis and extends to a life sentence with a discretionary parole date set beyond an offender's natural life expectancy. (Walker's Br. 4-6.) But *Miller* applies only to sentencing schemes that require the sentencing authority to impose a life sentence without the possibility of parole. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2460. And this Court has held that *Ninham* remains good law after *Miller*. *State v. Barbeau*, 2016 WI App 51, ¶ 32, 370 Wis. 2d 736, 883 N.W.2d 520.

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution prohibits cruel and unusual punishment: "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." Similarly, article I, section 6 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides: "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor shall excessive fines be imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." The Wisconsin Supreme Court has interpreted article I, section 6 in a manner consistent with the United States Supreme court's interpretation of the Eighth Amendment. See Ninham, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 45.

When Walker received his life sentence, Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1) (1993-94) provided in relevant part that:

- . . . the court shall make a parole eligibility determination regarding the person and choose one of the following options:
- (a) The person is eligible for parole under s. 304.06 (1).
- (b) The person is eligible for parole on a date set by the court. Under this paragraph, the court may set any later date than that provided in s. 304.06 (1), but may not set a date that occurs before the earliest possible parole eligibility date as calculated under s. 304.06 (1).

Wisconsin Stat. § 304.06(1)(b) provided that the person was not eligible for parole until he or she had served at least 20 years.² In Walker's case, the circuit court exercised its discretion under the second option and set Walker's parole eligibility date in 2071. (22.)

In *Ninham*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment's cruel and unusual punishment clause did not categorically prohibit a court from exercising its discretion under Wis. Stat. § 973.014 and sentencing a juvenile, 14-year-old or younger, to a life sentence without the possibility of parole. *Ninham*, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 4. It concluded that Ninham failed to establish that there was a national consensus against sentencing 14-year-old to life

² Since Walker committed his crime, the Legislature has amended these statutory provisions. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 304.06(1)(b) and 973.014 (2013-14). It added a third option of life without the possibility of parole. Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1)(c) (1995-96). It also modified the relevant statutes to reflect the replacement of parole with extended supervision under Truth in Sentencing. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g) (1997-98). Even if the circuit court had sentenced Walker under a different version of these provisions, the State's analysis of Walker's Eighth Amendment claim remains the same.

imprisonment without parole when the crime is intentional homicide. It also concluded in the exercise of its independent judgment that that the punishment was not categorically unconstitutional. Id. Based on the circumstances of his case, the court also decided that Ninham's sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole was not unduly harsh and excessive. Id. ¶ 5.

Following Ninham, the United States Supreme Court held in *Miller* that the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishments "forbids sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without possibility of parole for juvenile offenders." Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2469 (emphasis added). Miller announced a substantive rule of constitutional law and a defendant may benefit from its retroactive application on collateral review. *Montgomery* v. Louisiana, 136 S. Ct. 718, 736 (2016). Miller expressly recognized the continued authority of a court to sentence a juvenile to a life term without the possibility of parole. But before it does so, it must "take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2469.

The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Miller* turned on whether the life sentencing scheme prohibited a sentencing court from sentencing a juvenile to any sentence other than a life sentence without the possibility of parole. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2460, 2475. The court reasoned that such a scheme "runs afoul of our cases' requirement of individualized sentencing for defendants facing the most serious penalties." *Id.* at 2460.

Miller does not prohibit a sentencing court from applying a discretionary life sentencing scheme like Wis. Stat. § 973.014, which requires an individualized sentencing

determination. In fact, this Court has held that *Ninham* remains good law after *Miller*: "Although *Miller* was decided after *Ninham*, nothing in *Miller* undercuts our supreme court's holding in *Ninham*." *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 32. In *Barbeau*, this Court observed that *Miller* builds on the United States Supreme Court's analysis in *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), and *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010). *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 31. The *Ninham* decision extensively discussed *Roper* and *Graham* in rejecting Ninham's categorical proportionality challenge to the imposition of a mandatory life sentence. *See Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 30.

Based on its interpretation of *Miller* and *Ninham*, this Court distinguished the mandatory life sentencing scheme under *Miller* from the discretionary life sentencing scheme under Wis. Stat. § 973.014, which allows circuit courts to impose a mandatory life sentence under appropriate circumstances. *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 33. *Miller* applies only to a life sentence without the possibility of parole. This Court declined to apply *Miller* to Barbeau because he was not (a) sentenced to a mandatory life sentence and (b) the circuit court's sentencing discretion was not totally circumscribed. *Id*. ¶ 41.

Miller does not extend to discretionary life sentences imposed under Wis. Stat. § 973.014. Wisconsin sentencing law already requires circuit courts to make the individualized sentencing determinations that the Supreme Court contemplated in Miller.

C. Miller does not apply to Walker's case because the circuit court sentenced him under a discretionary life sentence scheme that required the circuit court to set a parole eligibility date.

When the circuit court sentenced Walker, it lacked the authority to sentence Walker to life without the possibility of parole. Wis. Stat. § 973.014. The Legislature did not provide circuit courts with the option of imposing a life sentence without the possibility of parole until after Walker's offense. See Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1)(c) (1995-96) (life without parole option applicable only to class A felonies committed on or after August 31, 1995). When Walker committed his crime, only a persistent repeater faced the potential of a life sentence without the possibility of parole. Wis. Stat. § 939.62(2m)(b). The persistent repeater exception did not apply to Walker.

Further, a circuit court does not set a parole eligibility date in a vacuum, but must do so based on the exercise of its individualized sentencing discretion. Both Wis. Stat. § 973.014 and Wisconsin case law have long required circuit courts to make appropriate individualized sentencing determinations that the Supreme Court contemplated in *Miller*. "The sentence imposed in each case should call for the minimum amount of custody or confinement which is consistent with the protection of the public, the gravity of the offense and the rehabilitative needs of the defendant." *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 276, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971) (citation omitted); *see also State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 23, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. When assessing these primary sentencing factors, courts also consider:

the vicious or aggravated nature of the crime; the past record of criminal offenses; any history of undesirable behavior patterns; the defendant's personality, character and social traits; the results of a presentence investigation; the degree of the defendant's culpability; the defendant's demeanor at trial; the defendant's age, educational background and employment record; the defendant's remorse, repentance and cooperativeness; the defendant's need for rehabilitative control; the right of the public; and the length of pretrial detention.

State v. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 774, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992). These same sentencing principles apply to a circuit court's parole eligibility determination with respect to life sentences imposed under Wis. Stat. § 973.014. See Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d at 774.3

Miller simply does not apply to discretionary life sentences imposed under Wis. Stat. § 973.014. Unlike the mandatory life sentence at issue in Miller, a Wisconsin sentencing court must (a) impose the minimum amount of confinement consistent with McCleary's primary sentencing factors; and (b) set a release eligibility date. Because the court was required to exercise its sentencing discretion consistent with McCleary, Miller does not apply to Walker's life sentence imposed under Wis. Stat. § 973.014.

_

³ Wisconsin did not allow the imposition of a life sentence without the possibility of release until after Walker committed his crime. But even under current law, a sentencing court is not required to impose a life without the possibility of parole sentence or extended supervision under Wis. Stat. § 973.014 (2013-14). Rather, a sentencing court must affirmatively select this option as part of its exercise of individualized sentencing discretion. See State v. Ninham, 2011 WI 33, ¶ 42, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451.

D. *Miller* does not apply to a "de facto" life sentence.

Walker notes that he will not be eligible for parole until 2071, when he is a 95-year-old. Relying on *McKinley v. Butler*, 809 F.3d 908 (7th Cir. 2016), he contends that his sentence is a "de facto" life sentence and that *Miller*'s requirements for sentencing a juvenile to a mandatory life sentence should apply to his case. (Walker's Br. 5.)

In *McKinley*, the Seventh Circuit characterized a life sentence with eligibility for release after 100 years as a *de facto* life sentence. It criticized the Illinois court's sentence because the sentencing court failed to address the relevance of the juvenile's age to his sentence. 809 F.3d at 911. The dissent rejected the majority's analysis, noting that the Seventh Circuit had previously held that *Miller* was inapplicable to a discretionary life sentence. *Id.* at 914 (Ripple, dissenting).

In *Croft v. Williams*, 773 F.3d 170 (7th Cir. 2014), the Seventh Circuit observed that "life sentences for murder are discretionary under Illinois law. This is a critical difference from the situation presented in *Miller*, which considered only 'mandatory life-without-parole sentences for juveniles." *Id.* at 171, citing *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2464; see also Martinez v. United States, 803 F.3d 878, 883 (7th Cir. 2015), cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 1230 (2016) ("Because [the juveniles]' life sentences were imposed after an individualized sentencing, and not by statutory mandate, we conclude that the district court did not violate *Miller*.").

The Seventh's Circuit analysis in *McKinley* does not bind this Court's analysis of Walker's claim. *See State v. Mechtel*, 176 Wis. 2d 87, 94, 499 N.W.2d 662 (1993) (determinations on federal questions by lower federal courts

do not bind state courts). Further, its persuasive value is limited. The Seventh Circuit's decision in *McKinley* is inconsistent with its prior decisions in *Croft* and *Martinez*. It is also inconsistent with decisions from other appellate courts.⁴

More importantly, this Court has previously rejected a *Miller* challenge to the discretionary life sentence scheme under Wis. Stat. § 973.014. In *Barbeau*, this Court limited *Miller*'s application to a mandatory life sentences. *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 41 ("[T]his principle is not at stake here. Barbeau was not sentenced to life in prison without the possibility that parole, and the circuit court's discretion was not totally circumscribed."). This Court's prior decision in *Barbeau* binds its resolution of Walker's claim. *See Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 185-90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997) (Court

⁴ Other courts have concluded that *Miller* does not extend to discretionary life sentences. See also United States v. Jefferson, 816 F.3d 1016, 1019 (8th Cir. 2016) and cases cited therein; Bell v. Uribe, 748 F.3d 857, 870 (9th Cir. 2013) ("Because the sentencing judge did consider both mitigating and aggravating factors under a sentencing scheme that affords discretion and leniency, there is no violation of Miller."); Davis v. McCollum, 798 F.3d 1317, 1321–22 (10th Cir. 2015) ("Miller said nothing about non-mandatory life-without-parole sentencing schemes and thus cannot warrant granting relief from a life-without-parole sentence imposed under such a scheme . . . Miller did not purport to alter the law governing statutory schemes giving the sentencing authority a choice between imposing life with or without possibility of parole on juvenile offenders."); and State v. Cardeilhac, 218, 876 N.W.2d 876, 888 (2016) ("Strictly read, *Miller* forbids only the imposition of a mandatory sentence of life imprisonment without parole on a person under age 18 who has committed a homicide."). But see State v. Riley, 110 A.3d 1205, 1206 (2015), cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 1361 (2016); and State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 72 (Iowa 2013) (but recognizing that other courts have "viewed *Miller* more narrowly, holding that it applies only to mandatory sentences of life without parole").

of Appeals lacks power to overrule, modify, or withdraw language from a previously published decision.). It should decline Walker's invitation to extend *McKinley* to his case.

II. Even if *Miller* applies to sentences imposed under Wis. Stat. § 973.014, the circuit court exercised the sentencing discretion contemplated under *Miller* when it set Walker's parole eligibility date.

For the above reasons, this Court should decline to review Walker's claim that the circuit court erred when it set his parole eligibility date under Wis. Stat. § 973.014. But if it does, then it must consider whether the circuit court's determination of Walker's parole eligibility date is consistent with the factors associated with sentencing juveniles identified in *Miller*. That is, in the exercise of its sentencing discretion, did the circuit court take into account how Walker as a 17-year old child was "different" in terms of his "diminished culpability and heightened capacity for change"? *See Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2469.5

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